#### KENT COUNTY COUNCIL

### **HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD**

MINUTES of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held in the Darent Room, Sessions House, County Hall, Maidstone on Wednesday, 27 January 2016.

PRESENT: Mr R W Gough (Chairman), Dr F Armstrong, Mr I Ayres, Dr B Bowes (Vice-Chairman), Ms H Carpenter, Mr P B Carter, CBE, Ms P Davies, Ms P Ford (Substitute for Ms F Cox), Mr S Inett, Mr A Ireland, Dr M Jones, Dr N Kumta, Dr E Lunt, Mr G Lymer (Substitute for Mr G K Gibbens), Mr P J Oakford, Cllr K Pugh, Mr A Scott-Clark, Dr R Stewart and Cllr L Weatherly

IN ATTENDANCE: Mr T Godfrey (Policy and Relationships Adviser (Health)), Mr M Lemon (Strategic Relationships Adviser (Health)) and Mrs A Hunter (Principal Democratic Services Officer)

#### **UNRESTRICTED ITEMS**

### 190. Chairman's Welcome

(Item 1)

- (1) The Chairman welcomed Pennie Ford, Director of Assurance and Delivery at NHS England who was attending as substitute for Ms Cox and was also presenting agenda item 5.
- (2) Mr Gough thanked Healthwatch Kent for their contribution to the development of the draft Work Programme (agenda item 8).

### 191. Apologies and Substitutes

(Item 2)

Apologies for absence were received from Ms Cox, Dr Cocker, Mr Gibbens, Dr Martin and Mr Perks. Ms Ford and Mr Lymer attended as substitutes for Ms Cox and Mr Gibbens respectively.

# 192. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the agenda for this meeting (Item 3)

There were no declarations of interest.

## 193. Minutes of the Meeting held on 18 November 2015 (*Item 4*)

Resolved that the minutes of the meeting held on 18 November 2015 are correctly recorded and that they be signed by the Chairman.

## 194. NHS preparations for and response to winter in Kent 2015/16 (Item 5)

- (1) Ms Ford introduced the report which described the actions taken by the health and social care system to prepare for and respond to winter. Ms Ford said that over Christmas and New Year in 2014/15 there had been severe pressure on the health and social care system; the key vehicles for winter preparedness and response were the systems resilience groups established in 2014; and the report provided a summary of the high level assurance that was now in place.
- (2) Ms Ford drew particular attention to: the System Resilience Group Assurance ahead of winter; surge management plans and exercises; the winter communication plan to reduce pressure on frontline services; and the winter resilience room that had been in operation between 17 December 2015 and 29 January 2016.
- (3) Ms Ford also said that the industrial action by junior doctors planned for January had been postponed and might take place in February.
- (4) Each of the CCGs provided an update on the experience over Christmas and New Year 2015/16.

#### North Kent

- (5) In north Kent, as predicted, there was increased pressure, particularly on acute services, over the Christmas period. The Darent Valley Hospital held up last year. This had continued in many respects this year, however, there had been deterioration in the Accident & Emergency position despite a reduction in activity levels. SECamb had seen an increase of 9% in the total number of calls received and the emphasis on "see and treat" and "hear and treat" had contributed to a 1% reduction in conveyance rates to the Darent Valley Hospital. The number of ambulance conveyances had reduced from an average of 450 per week for the first 2.5 weeks of January 2015 to an average of 400 for the same period in 2016.
- (6) It was considered that problems were likely to be the result of intra-hospital pressures and work was underway to understand the reasons. Efforts were also being made to understand the reasons for the increase in Delayed Transfers of Care from 1.7% in November/December 2015 to 2.74% in January 2016.
- (7) Primary care and ambulance services had coped well across DGS and Swale with providers of the out of hours service being able to fill all shifts; the 111 service had also coped well particularly as 50% of calls from Yorkshire and the north of England had been re-directed to the south as part of business resilience plans in response to flooding.
- (8) Ms Davies also said it was worth noting that the A&E Department at the Medway Hospital had remained "green" in the two weeks to Christmas and was one of the last hospitals nationally to declare "black" on 5 or 6 January 2016.
- (9) Overall, primary care, community services and the out of hours service were robust and had performed well, while there were lessons to be learned in relation to acute services.

#### West Kent

(10) Admissions to hospitals in Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells had remained level with a normal seasonal increase in the number of long stay patients which put more pressure on beds. The emphasis in the A&E Departments was to find beds quickly for those who needed to be admitted. In addition to some delayed transfers of care to social services, there were issues relating to nursing and care home capacity in West Kent and the potential need for accommodation with doctor oversight particularly for those who required rehabilitation and re-ablement services but not the full services of an acute hospital.

#### East Kent

- (11) Ms Carpenter said that East Kent's performance had to be considered in the context of on-going activity including "discharge to assess programmes" that had been in place since October 2015; the A&E recovery plan; and work continuing in primary care to reduce hospital admissions, particularly, among the over 75's. East Kent Hospitals University Foundation Trust had an 82% bed occupancy rate on Christmas Eve but the position deteriorated from New Year's Eve onwards especially at the Queen Elizabeth, Queen Mother Hospital as a result of significant staff sickness and the lack of agency staff on shifts.
- (12) Footfall in primary care had been lower than predicted between Christmas and New Year but had been higher in A&E. Work was underway to understand why this was the case and to ensure people were sign posted to the correct service or capacity was provided where it was required.
- (13) The System Resilience Group in East Kent was now well placed to take forward the A&E Recovery Plan and there was now a clear focus on being prepared for the half-term holiday in February.
- (14) Dr Jones drew attention to work that was being done collectively to: avoid unnecessary admissions to hospital; manage the flow of patients through the hospitals; and avoid delayed transfers of care. The capacity of primary care during the day was satisfactory but there was a need to recognise capacity issues arising from seven-day working.
- (15) Mr Ireland said that there was a greater collective focus on sustainable ways of supporting patients to be in their own homes, however, there were acute pressures on workforce supply in the social care market as a whole and particularly on homecare. Integrated care responses would continue to be developed.
- (16) Mr Scott-Clark said that the flu rate, monitored by Public Health England was half the rate at the end of week 2 compared with the same period in 2015. However the prescribing guidance on anti-virals had been instituted in the last three weeks and this was triggered when flu rates were higher nationally. He also said that outbreaks of flu were being reported in primary schools but this could be due to increased vigilance.

- (17) In response to questions, Ms Ford said that the industrial action taken by junior doctors had excluded urgent and emergency care and had affected elective activity. Trusts were now seeking to recover from this. The impact on services would be much greater if there was a full walk out and plans were being made to keep emergency care pathways open.
- (18) Resolved that the report and updates be noted

# 195. The new planning arrangements for health and social care (*Item 6*)

- (1) The Chairman said that agenda items 6 and 7 (New Models of Care Progress Report Presentation) were closely related and would be considered together.
- (2) Mark Lemon (Strategic Relationships Adviser) introduced the report on the New Planning Arrangements for Health and Social Care by giving a short presentation a copy of which is available on-line at Appendix 1 to these minutes.
- (3) Mr Ayres spoke about the planning footprint from a health perspective. He said the Strategic and Transformation Plans differed from previous plans and needed to be developed by system and by place as well as demonstrating that both individual organisations and the system as a whole could balance their budgets. There had been some discussion about the options for planning footprints including footprints designed to ensure the viability of acute providers such as an "A21 Corridor" as well as the development of footprints at a Kent level, at CCG level, at joint CCG level such as "East Kent", or on a "Health Economy" level of north, east and west Kent.
- (4) Ms Davies and Ms Carpenter gave presentations about the development of Strategic and Transformation Plans for the west and east Kent health economies which are available on-line as Appendices 2 and 3 of these minutes.
- (5) Mr Ayres said that "Mapping the Future" project, undertaken a few years ago, had set out the vision of a sustainable future for west Kent and the foundations to build that future had been put in place over the last two years. This included:
  - Re-commissioning the out of hours service into a two-year contract bringing together a range of services with a view to procuring a fully integrated care service from 2017;
  - Developing Maidstone and Tunbridge Wells Hospital and the Kent Community Health Foundation Trust as a partnership of providers rather than as competitors;
  - Working with GP practices and the development of two emerging federations with a view to them being at the heart of community based service provision;

- Running pilot programmes with Adult Social Care and other providers to align and integrate services with a view to procuring fully integrated services in a lead provider arrangement
- (6) Mr Ireland gave a presentation about the transformation of Adult Social Care which is available on-line as Appendix 4 to these minutes
- (7) There was general agreement that planning needed to be done: at the most appropriate level for the service; around natural populations rather than around acute service providers; and should focus on developing integrated primary and social care. Concerns were expressed about the difficulties presented by seeking to extend the footprint beyond Kent and Medway.
- (8) Dr Stewart said the Kent Integration Pioneer Steering Group had an important role, as a working group of the Kent HWB, to work with and across emerging new models of care including vanguards, integrated care organisations and federations. New community services and professional blended roles based around GP practice configurations linked to the estates and workforce strategies to support independence could be achieved by the CCGs, Social Care, Public Health and other providers coming together to design, learn and share clinical and social innovation to meet local challenges and integrate health and social care provision.

### (9) Resolved:

- (a) That the most appropriate planning footprints were the health economies of north, west and east Kent with recognition of the wider Kent and Medway dimension for some aspects of planning;
- (b) That a range of governance models were emerging be noted; that there should be reports on the development of the Strategic and Transformation Plans to the HWB in March and May 2016 and that they should include updates on this aspect as appropriate;
- (c) That the Board's workplan and forward agenda setting reflect the requirements to consider and agree the various plans to be produced over the coming months, including the evolution of the BCF in Kent, to deliver the wider integration requirement by 2020 in conjunction with the Sustainability and Transformation Plans;
- (d) That the work, to be done outside the meeting, to ensure progress be recognised and that consideration be given to reframing the refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy, due in 2017, around plans for the integration of health and social care by 2020, although work to achieve this integration should be accelerated as much as possible;
- (e) To note that, in practice the Assurance Framework covered the review and evaluation of progress towards the objectives of the plans including the nine "must-do's".

## 196. New Models of Care - Progress Report - Presentation (Item 7)

This item was considered with the previous item (The New Planning Arrangements for Health and Social Care)

# 197. Draft Kent Health and Wellbeing Board Work Programme (Item 8)

- (1) Tristan Godfrey (Policy and Relationships Adviser) introduced the report which included: a suggested outline Forward Work Programme; a proposal to better focus the work of the Board by defining its key areas of activity; and a suggestion for improving the co-ordination of future agendas.
- (2) It was suggested that the Board's primary focus should be on setting out and achieving ambitious and innovative targets and an in-depth discussion was required to define and agree this ambition.

### (3) Resolved that:

- (a) An annual work programme for the Board in line with the approach set out in the report be agreed;
- (b) Amendments to the Forward Work Programme be suggested prior to final agreement of the programme on 16 March 2016 and its communication to the local health and wellbeing boards;
- (c) The Forward Work Programme be a standing item on future agendas;
- (d) A lead officer to assist in the co-ordination of future agendas be nominated where appropriate.

# 198. Kent Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report (Item 9)

- (1) Mr Ireland introduced the report on behalf of Gill Rigg, Independent chair of the Kent Safeguarding Children Board (KSCB). The report described the progress made in improving the safeguarding services provided for children and young people in Kent during 2014/15 as well as the challenges for the following year.
- (2) Mr Ireland said the KSCB was waiting its Ofsted inspection which could happen at any time up to March 2017. He also drew attention to the growing understanding and commitment in relation to child sexual exploitation (CSE) and to the issue of unaccompanied asylum seeking minors (UASM). He said that currently there were 930 UASM in the care of the county with a further 500 accessing care leaving services. Discussions about a national placement scheme were continuing but there were concerns that number of UASM being cared for in Kent could increase rapidly if a scheme was not in place by April.

(3) Resolved that the progress and improvements made during 2014/15, as detailed in the annual report from the Independent Chair of Kent Safeguarding Children Board, be noted.

#### 199. Minutes of the Children's Health and Wellbeing Board (Item 10)

Resolved that the minutes of the meetings of the Children's Health and Wellbeing Board held on 15 September and 25 November 2015 be noted.

#### 200. Minutes of the Local Health and Wellbeing Boards (Item 11)

Resolved that the minutes of local health and wellbeing boards be noted as follows:

Canterbury and Coastal – 13 November 2015 Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley – 9 December 2015 Thanet 19 November - 2015 West Kent – 17 November 2015

### **Date of Next Meeting 16 March 2016** 201.

(Item 12)